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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

GUEVARA ZELAYA

Petitioner,
Civil Action No. 12-3213 (JAP)
V.
OPINION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Respondent.

PISANO, District Judge:

This matter is before the Court pursuant to a Petition to vacate, set aside, or correct his
sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 fagdPetitioner Guevara Iaya (“Guevara”).
Petitioner challenges his 2009 caetion in the District Court fiothe District of New Jersey,
alleging ineffective assistance of counsel, and asserting that his plea agreement was not
knowingly and intelligently made. On May 21, 20@yevara filed a Motion for Appointment of
Counsel and a Motion for Evidentiary Hearingr Bee reasons set forth below, the Motion for
Appointment of Counsel and Motion for Evidearii Hearing will be deeid, and the Court will
dismiss the petition because idis no merit to Petitioner’s alleiians of ineffective assistance
of counsel and that he did not knowingly aniliigently enter intdiis plea agreement.
Backaround

Guevara is a citizen of Honduras and foaine to the United States in 1994. From 1996
to 2009 Guevara was arrested in the United Statesty times for receiving stolen property,

hindering apprehension, resistiagest, trespassing, obstruction of justice, bail jumping,
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domestic violence, child molestation, assautt drug related offenses. As a result of these
charges he acquired a crimirmtory category of VI.

On March 12, 2004, Guevara was convictethenNew Jersey Superior Court for
possession of Cocaine with the intent to dispemsistribute within 1,00@eet of a school and
sentenced him to four years imprisonment. The offense was an aggravated felony. In 2006 he
was deported to Honduras.

At some point after being deported in 20G&ievara reentered the United States. In
October 2009, Guevara was arrested for a traffiation in Jersey @y, New Jersey. He was
later charged on a federal indictment by the United States Government for the crime of illegal re-
entry because he had not obtaitieel consent of U.S. Attorney teenter the United States, in
violation of 18 U.S.C1326 (a) and (b)(2).

In November 2009, Assistant Federal Publefender Kevin Carlucci was appointed to
represent Guevara on the chaofjdlegal re-entry. The Govement offered the Petitioner a
written offer to plead guilty to the crime of itjal re-entry with an offense level of 21 with no
ability to argue for a downward variance or diéyae. In response tthe Government’s plea
offer, Mr. Carlucci asked the Government to makaea offer that contained stipulations of fact,
which would allow him to argue for a downwardiaace or departure. The Government agreed
to Mr. Carlucci’s counteroffer to make a fatipslated plea agreement. Mr. Carlucci then met
with the Petitioner ahe Essex County Jail and twice abiMnouth County jail to discuss and
explain both plea agreementkgtfact-stipulated plea agreement and the fully-stipulated plea
agreement). Neither agreement specificallyestanything about a time served sentence or

being deported. Guevara ultimately ended up dowefhe fact stipulated plea agreement.



Mr. Carlucci advised Guevara that his sgte would most likely be 77 to 96 months
based on his current crime and crialihistory. Mr. Carluci stated that he made no promises to
Guevara that he would receive any specific sentence. Mr. Carlucci filed a sentencing
memorandum arguing that Guevara deserveatiance application plea agreement.

At sentencing in May 2011, the presidihgdge Garrett Browreiterated what Mr.

Carlucci had told Guevara, that the sentdndse imposed on Guevara was within the sole
discretion of the sentencing judge, and that tea pgreement did not bind the sentencing judge.
Judge Brown then informed Guevara thatdbetencing guidelines ranged from 77 to 96
months. Ultimately, Judge Brownrgenced Guevara to 77 months.

Thereafter, Mr. Carlucci filed notice of appeal dRetitioner’s behalfwhich argued that
the court did not properly weigh the Petitiosesidmittance of guilt and the reasons why he
returned to the United States, and that thees®et was too harsh for the crime committed. The
Third Circuit affirmed the judgment of the lowewurt and stated that Judge Brown’s sentence
met the sentencing guidelines and the court dicee any abuse that would warrant a reversal
of the lower court’s sentence.

On May 30, 2012, the Petitioner filed this Habeas Corpus Petition, claiming that when
Mr. Carlucci informed him o& potential plea agreement thatias negotiated with the U.S.
Attorney, he told Guevara thathg pled guilty he would receiva sentence of time served and
be deported.Therefore, Guevara claims that Mr.riliaci was constitutionally ineffective
because counsel failed to bargain with@wernment to his safaction and broke off
communication with Guevara tos detriment at the close bis sentencing. Additionally,

Guevara claims he did not knowingly and intellitigenter into his plea agreement because Mr.

1 The Government submitted a sworn affidavit of Karlucci who denies ever having discussed
with Guevara a plea agreementdeavith the U.S. Attorney promising a time served sentence.



Carlucci had promised him a time served ple@agent. The Petitioner is seeking specific
performance to enforce the terms of the time served plea agreement that he believed he was
accepting at the time of his pleaguilty and to be deported.

Motion for Evidentiary Hearing

Guevara filed this Motion for Evidentiary Hearing. A motion for an evidentiary hearing

may only be granted if the defendant’s coumseised him to be prejudiced. United States v.

McCoy, 410 3d Cir. 124 (2005). Therefore, the Cauilitevaluate the substance of Guevara’s
petition to conclude wheth¢he Petitioner was indegulejudiced by his counsel.

M otion for Appointment of Counsel

Guevara was represented by counsel innitisl hearing and sgencing and has now
moved for Appointment of Counsel. He allegiest he is seeking new counsel because his
original counsel, Mr. Carlucci, providedefiective counsel and thus, the Petitioner was
prejudiced in the proceedings. The court willyogtant a Motion for Appointment of Counsel if

it is satisfied the action is not frivolous mialicious. Tabron v. Grace, 6 F.3d 3d Cir. 147 (1993).

Here, Petitioner alleges thia¢ should have received a time served sentence and been
immediately deported. Instead he was sentetw&d months. Therefore, this Court will
evaluate whether the Petitioner’s action is frivolous.
Analysis

The Petitioner raises two grounds for reliehia habeas corpus p@tn: (1) ineffective
assistance of counsel, (2) and plea matsknowingly and intelligently made.
A. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The Petitioner asserts that he received @utiffe assistance of counsel because he was

led to believe by his attorney that he was receiving a plea agreement that was negotiated with the



U.S. Attorney. This alleged plea agreementusaifed that if Petitionepled guilty he would
receive a time served sentence and be immegidéglorted. However, when Petitioner pled
guilty, he received a sentence of 77 monthisusT the Petitioner asserts that he did not
knowingly or intelligently enter into the plearagment since he only accepted the plea under the
belief that he would receive no jail time.

In order to establish ineffective assistanceainsel, the petitioner must show that his
counsel’s representation fell below a standanasonableness, and because of such failure, the
petitioner was prejudicedge., the outcome of the proceeding was affected by the counsel’s

inadequate representationri@&land v. Washington, 466 U.888 (1984). The burden is on the

Petitioner to prove that the attorney’s reg@ntation was ineffective because there is a
presumption of attorney competency. Id.

Here, the fact that the Petitioner did neteive a time served sentence and get
immediately deported does not demonstrateNhraCarlucci provided iaffective counsel. The
Petitioner presents no evidence thit Carlucci and the U.S. Attorney ever entered into any sort
of plea agreement to that effect. Mr. Carluca@ bBavorn that he nevergmised the Petitioner a
time served sentence or that he entered intagrgement regarding a time served sentence with
the U.S. Attorney. In addition, we presumattMr. Carlucci adequely explained the plea
agreements that were available to Guevara ahdatilead Guevara to leve that another plea
agreement was being negotiated, because warpeethat the attorney competently provided
representation. Id. In colusion, the Petitioner has failed toope that he received ineffective
assistance of counsel. Thus, the Court finds thatuhnecessary to hold an evidentiary hearing

because the Petitioner has not proventieatad ineffective assistance of counsel.



B. Knowingly and Intelligently Made

Under_United States v. Larkin, the Court iqued to closely lookt the plea bargain

that the defendant entered into because whemdaridual enters into alea bargain, that person

is giving up their constitutionaight to trial by jury. UnitedStates v. Larkin, 629 F.3d. Cir.

(2010). In this case, the Pdiiter clearly signed a plea agremmhthat did not include any
mention of a time served sentence or immediate deportation. Furthermore, when Judge Brown
asked the Petitioner if he heghd and understood the plea agreement and if he had been
promised a specific sentence, he replied unddér that he hadcdead and understood the
agreement and that he had not been promiseddfispsentence. Therefore, after reviewing the
plea agreement as it is requiteddo under Larkin, the Court finds that the tatier was aware
of the bargain he was enteringdrand the Constitutional rightee was relinquishing. Thus, his
argument that he did not knowingly or intelligengigter into his plea agement is rejected.
Further, the Petitioner argues that the @ece he received was too high for the crime
committed. Under Larkin, deference is given te dstrict court judge’s sentence because the
district court judge has heaathd reviewed all the factsna looked into te character and
background of the individual. Iéactors that are taken intorgsideration when sentencing are
promoting respect for the law, proper detecesto criminal conductral protecting the public
from future crimes by the defendant. Id. Here Betitioner has a level 6 criminal record, which
clearly demonstrates that Hees not have any respect for the law of the United States or
remorse for his criminal conduct. Additionaltize Petitioner’s long history of criminal conduct
will have made him well versed in court proceedings and plea agreements. Accordingly, the

Court finds that the sentence was appropriate.



C. Certificate of Appealability

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2253 (c)(1)(b), unlessauit justice or judgéssues a certificate
of appealability, appeal may not be taken frafimal order in a proceeding under 28 U.S.C. §
2255. A certificate of appealabilitpay issue “only if the apigant has made a substantial
showing of the denial of a constitutional righi28 U.S.C. (c)(2). “A petitioner satisfies this
standard by demonstrating that gisi of reason could disagree wilie district court’s resolution
of his constitutional claims or that jurists cowonclude the issuesgaented are adequate to

deserve encouragement to proceed furtiditler-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 327 (2003)

Here, Petitioner has failed to make a subg&hshowing of the denialf a constitutional
right. Accordingly, no certificate aippealability shall issue.
Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, the Court dises the Petition forda of evidence of
ineffective assistance of counseld for knowingly entering intthe plea agreement. It further

denies the Motion for an Evidentiary Heagiand Motion for Appointment of Counsel.

/s/ Joel A. Pisano
JOEL A. PISANO, U.S.D.J.

Dated: July 24, 2013



